# SOME EFFECTS OF CULTURAL PRACTICES ON GROWTH AND YIELD OF PEPPERS (CAPSICUM ANNUM L.)

2115-5574A

by

## RAMCHANDRA N. NADMICHETTU

B. S., Andhra Pradesch Agricultural University, 1971

## A MASTER'S THESIS

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Horticulture and Forestry

KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

1974

Approved by:

Major Professor

LD 2668 T4 1974 N33 c.2 Document

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
LIST OF TABLES	iii
INTRODUCTION	1
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	4
MATERIALS AND METHODS	11
EXPERIEMNTAL RESULTS	13
Greenhouse Results	13
Field Results	13
DISCUSSION	20
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	25
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	27
LITERATURE CITED	28
VITA	33
APPENDTY	34

## LIST OF TABLES

TABLE		Page
1.	Effect of night temperature and pot size on pepper plant height after three and one-half weeks growth in the greenhouse	14
2.	Effect of night temperature and pot size on number of leaves of peppers after three and one-half weeks growth in the greenhouse	15
3.	Effect of night temperature on pepper plant height in field and fruit diameter at first harvest	16
4.	Effect of field spacing of pepper transplants on early marketable yield, total yield, total marketable yield per plant, total yield per plant and season's average marketable fruit weight per plant	17
5.	Effect of age of pepper transplants on early marketable yield, total marketable yield, plant height, early marketable yield per plant and total marketable yield per plant	19

#### INTRODUCTION

Scientists have attempted to modify plant-life through different cultural practices to increase yields to meet ever-increasing demand for food. The importance of good cultural practices to grow vigorus, healthy and competitive transplants to maximize yield has long been realized by vegetable-crop growers. These practices emphasize the importance of adjusting ecological factors during the juvenile stage of plant-growth so that quality plants will attain field setting size in a short time. Furthermore the plants would be competitively stronger in the plant community and withstand the field conditions after transplanting.

Pepper (<u>Capsicum annum</u>, L.) is an economically important vegetable crop. It is a member of the Solanaceae or nightshade family. Undoubtedly of American origin, it was widely cultivated in Central and South America. It seems probable that the first peppers grown in the United States came directly from Europe (13, 47, 48, 51).

Peppers are grown for their fleshy fruits, used either green or ripe.

Sweet varieties are used for salads, pickles, and stuffing; hot ones for relishes, seasoning, and sauces. Peppers are a source of various ointment preparations such as those for dropsy, colic, ague, and tooth-ache (13, 47).

The recognition of high nutritive value of peppers creates a constant demand from the market. Peppers are a good source of vitamin A, ascorbic acid, potassium, phosphorus and calcium (3, 13, 47, 52). Furthermore, they are available in red, green or brown colors and possess a unique flavor.

Fundamental research on the morphology and physiology of the pepper plant was undertaken by Cochran (7, 8, 9, 10, 51). It was observed that speed of pepper seed germination is greatly influenced by temperature. The number of

days required from planting until first seedling emergence decreased rapidly as the temperature was raised from 50 to 60 to 90 to 100 F (7). Climatic conditions during growth and blossom development have a marked influence on fruit-setting in the pepper (8, 10, 51). Lack of stigma receptivity at the time of pollination was found to be responsible for poor fruit-set in pimentoes (9).

Most pepper varieties require slightly warmer temperatures than tomatoes—a daily average temperature of about 75 F. Despite the pepper's need for plenty of warm weather, extreme heat of mid-summer in many parts of the South and South West is too high for fruit-setting in most varieties (3).

Went, Dorland, and Wells studied the importance of night temperature on vegetative growth and flowering in peppers (16, 55, 56). The optimal temperature was found to be 79 F to 86 F for pepper seedlings but the optimum temperature decreased for later growth (56). Most abundant flowering and fruit-set was found to occur between 60 F and 69 F night temperature (16). The greatest number of flowers per plant was found at 60 and 70 F night temperature. The greatest number of fruits and the highest percent fruit-set were found at night temperatures of 50 and 60 F (55).

The stage of development and the spacing in the flat at transplanting time were found to influence the yield characteristics in pepper (15, 16, 32).

The pepper is a frost sensitive plant and it requires a long growing season to produce profitable yields. In order to lengthen the growing season, the seed is usually sown in greenhouses or other forcing structures during late winter or very early spring. It is also desirable to grow large, thrifty plants to transplant in the field because early peppers command the highest prices. Lack of early fruit-set is a common phenomenon of garden

or field grown pepper-transplants in Kansas resulting in lower yields and reduced prices.

This study was undertaken in an attempt to determine the influence of greenhouse night temperature, pot-size, spacing and age or size of transplants on yield of pepper in the field.

#### REVIEW OF LITERATURE

A survey of the literature indicates that the growth and fruit-setting in pepper is influenced by various factors. It has been attributed most frequently to unfavorable weather during blossoming period and pollination, improper nutrition of the plant, injury of the blossoms by insects and competition of the individual blossoms for nutritive material.

## Temperature

Boswell et al. (3) recommended a temperature of 65 F at night and 75 F during the day after plant emergence. Heat injury to the blossoms was noticed above 90 F when fruit-dropping became excessive in peppers.

Rylski (42) reported the effects of the early environment on flowering in pepper. The number of leaves prior to anthesis was inversely proportional to night temperature, the lower the temperature, the more leaves. A night temperature of 68 F delayed flowering 10 days as compared with 77 F night temperature. High night temperature (64-68 F) during flower development was a prerequisite for the formation of good shaped, elongated fruit (41).

Cochran (7) found a great influence of temperature on pepper seed germination and explained that the speed of germination may depend largely on the velocity of certain chemical reactions within the seeds, responsible for the metabolic activity of the young embryoes.

Pepper plants were not sensitive to light intensity or length of daily illumination (8, 10, 51) and produced a larger total number of flowers in the warm greenhouse (70-80 F) compared to the cooler greenhouse. There was a progressive decrease in receptivity with each day's increase in stigma age from the day of anthesis in pimentoes when the mean temperature was above 72 F (9).

Deli and Tiessen (14) obtained more flowers in peppers at the night temperature of 54 F than at 64 F. The low temperature, 54 F induced a significant reduction in plant height but light intensity had no influence on height. They reported that pepper plants exposed to temperatures of 54°F commencing at the third true leaf stage for a 3-week period resulted in higher early yields. The early yield was associated with a more heavily branched plant with fewer nodes preceding the first axil where the flowers are borne.

Went and Dorland (16) noticed a gradual decrease in the optimal night temperatures for stem elongation from 86 F to 47 F as the pepper plants progressed to maturity. At the highest night temperatures, the number of leaves increased but they were yellow and smaller. No flowers developed at 86 F night temperature. Flowering was most abundant at 60 to 69 F night temperature for young plants, but in older plants the optimum night temperature shifted to 47 F. The same was true for fruit-set.

Night temperatures below 61 F and day temperatures above 90 F were found to prevent fruit-set. Low humidity and high temperature resulting in excessive transpiration caused a water deficit in bell-peppers. This ultimately resulted in formation of abscission layers on buds, flowers, and small fruits (13).

Kato and Tanaka (24) observed increased rate of fruit development with increases in night temperature in the range 61 -72 F, in capsicums, day temperature was less important.

Wells (55) found the greatest number of flowers per plant at 60 and 75 F night temperature and the highest percent fruit-set at night temperatures of 50 and 60 F. The cyclic habit of flowering and fruiting in peppers was

cited as supporting evidence that within the genetic capacity of plant-growth, growth substances - possible carbohydrates - become a limiting factor during a period of vigorus flowering, fruiting and vegetative growth. The differences in flowering and fruiting at the varying night temperatures was attributed to the competition for an available supply of food materials and/or growth substances (24, 55).

Temperatures of over 68 -72 F were most suitable for the so called vernalization phase in the development of pepper (26). The day length of 12-hours was found to be desirable for early flowering and increase in yield by 20 to 37% (2).

Moisture stress at the first flower bud differentiation stage delayed leaf emergence as well as the "ripeness-to-flower" condition resulting in a highly significant decrease in yield of pepper (15).

A night temperature of 68 F was found most favorable for growing the pepper variety 'Cecei' under glass. At 59 F both early and total yields were reduced (17).

Went did extensive work on thermoperiodicity of tomatoes in growth and fruiting (58, 59, 61). He suggested that thermoperiodicity is a general phenomenon in higher plants. It has been determined that tomatoes at 64 F night temperature did best and potatoes formed tubers at the optimum range of night temperature between 50 and 70 F (57, 60).

The hardening of young tomato plants, even to a moderate degree under greenhouse conditions resulted in lower early yields of fruit of lighter weight (4). Differential exposure of tops and roots of seedlings revealed that top temperatues determine the position, as to node number of the first inflorescence, while root temperatures influence the number of flowers in

the first inflorescence (37). Plants of a given age grown at cooler temperature produced a higher percentage of plants with buds or open flowers and fruit size was larger at the warmer (60 -70 F) plant growing temperature (33).

Wittwer and Teubner (62) subjected tomato seedlings to night temperature of 50 -55 F and obtained significantly more flowers in the first cluster. Highest growth rate was achieved in winter at the night temperature, not lower than, 64 F and the day, not lower than 68 F (5).

Hurd and Cooper (22, 23) increased the number of flowers on the first inflorescence by exposing tomato plants to 50 F during the early growth period. Chilling (50 F) delayed anthesis by up to 10 days, the delay being proportional to the duration of chilling.

Schaible (45) identified substantial levels of heat tolerances in the tomato varieties, Narcalang and Porter, which enabled them to set fruit abundantly at night temperatures of 73 F and 80 F. Fruit-size decreased as night temperatures were increased and fruit seediness was related to its degree of heat tolerance.

Curme (11) demonstrated that normal fruit-set in tomatoes may occur at night air temperatures as low as 45 F.

Between emergence and flowering the mean rate of development of maize per day was found to be related by linear correlation analysis to mean air temperature, solar radiation and potential transpiration estimated from weather data. All correlations were significant but the parameter which combined radiation and temperature was statistically better (20).

It was shown in <u>Cestrum nocturnum</u>, a long-short day plant, that the phototemperature (73.4 F) had the greatest effect upon long-day induction and that the nyctotemperature (68 F) had the greatest effect upon short

day induction (43). The optimum night temperature, in some cases, was found to decrease with light intensity, while in other cases more growth might take place at higher temperature, in small snap-dragon plants (30).

Pot Size

Angeli (1) reported higher yields with pepper seedlings grown in 4" x 4" peat-pots than those grown in 3" x 3" pots. Casseres (6) obtained similar significantly higher early and total yield of tomatoes using a spacing of 4" x 4" in flats.

## Spacing

Pepper plants spaced at 12" x 12", 24" x 24" and 36" x 36" in the field demonstrated that high density planting offered a promising method of increasing both total and marketable yield of the standard early cultivar, Vinedale. Plants were smallest in the most closely spaced plots (25).

In some of the warmer areas, pepper seeds are thinly drilled directly in the field in rows 42" apart and later thinned to stand 30" to 36" apart in rows, in Georgia and 18" apart in the rows, in California (3).

Most varieties of pepper are planted about 24" apart in rows 36" apart. Small growing varieties may be planted as close as 18" apart in the row. Very large growing varieties sometimes are planted 30" x 36" (51). A 12" x 12" spacing gave heavier fruit than spacing either of 4" x 4" or 8" x 8" in the field (13).

Nicklow (32) showed that a fewer number of leaves from the main stem to the first cluster on laterals might be a factor for the early yields of pepper resulting from wide spacing per plant in the flat.

The pepper variety "Kalinkov" performed well when sprinkle-irrigated and spaced singly at  $24" \times 10"$  (49).

Ozaki (35) found 3" spacing of plants in the row resulted in the highest total yield of peppers with un-effected fruit quality.

Stoicescu (50) reported that the best planting system for peppers was on ridges with 24" x 6" spacing between the plants.

A spacing of 14"  $\times$  8" with one or two plants per hill with the variety Dzuljunska Sipka and a spacing of 13"  $\times$  12" with two plants per hill with Rumanska Sipka gave higher yields (21).

The highest yields of red pepper were obtained at density of 26.7 plants per 10.76 square feet (36). Reducing the plant population increased total seed weight but lowered seed production per plant and per fruit (12).

The optimum density for green pepper cultivation in soils fertilized with ammonium nitrate and super phosphate was found at  $16" \times 20"$  (18).

A number of experiments were conducted with different spacings in tomato (34, 39, 40, 53). Nicklow and Minges (33) observed more leaves to the first cluster, a bushier plant, and earlier flowering resulting in a higher early yield with greater space per plant. The larger yield in Gem tomatoes was primarily a function of the large number of plants per acre (53). A 48" x 24" spacing was found to be the most favorable in producing highest yields in Marglobe Sabour (40). Highly significant increases in both early and total yields were obtained by reducing the space between plants in  $44\frac{1}{2}$ " rows from 48" to 24", but fruit size was reduced. Blossoms per truss, number of fruitset per truss and percent fruitset were all higher for the plants in the wider spacing (39).

Spacing trials were conducted in ginger (38), spinach (28), pea (27), beet (54), carrots (19, 54), and broccoli (63) for increasing the yield.

## Age of Transplants

Boswell et al. (3) recommended large plants, seven to eight week old suitable for transplanting in the field.

Dorland and Went (16) believed that stage of plant development rather than age determined response to temperature and observed the first flower formation at the 9th to 11th node in pepper.

Thompson and Kelley suggested to sow seeds usually seven to eight or ten weeks before time for planting in the open (51). The general effect of transplanting was found to retard development, the seriousness of such retardation depended upon the plant, its age and the conditions of transplanting (29).

Angeli (1) obtained higher early and total pepper yields with  $2^{l_2}$  and 3 month old seedlings.

Stoicescu (50) observed good results with two month old seedlings using proper date of planting, spacing and fertilizer.

Nicklow and Minges (33) noticed an increase in total yield and fruit size, utilizing tomato transplants five weeks of age or younger.

Casseres (6) demonstrated early yields and larger total yields with tomato transplants of seven week age.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

Pepper cv. "Tasty Hybrid" seeds were sown in wooden flats of dimension 24 x 16 x 14 inches, containing washed river sand, in a greenhouse maintained at 70 F night temperature, on April 6, 1973. The flats were sprinkle-irrigated daily.

Seedlings were transplanted singly into peat-pots of either 2½" or 3" diameter, containing a potting mixture of peat-moss, loam soil and sand in 2:2:1 ratio, on April 25, at the stage of unfolding cotyledons. The pots were arranged in the flats and moved to two different greenhouses maintained at either 50 F or 55 F night temperature. The transplants were grown under these conditions until the day of field setting.

The plants were watered as necessary and sprayed twice with Thiodan (50%) WP.) by means of a compressed air sprayer to control the incidence of aphids and white flies. Plant height was measured and number of leaves counted on May 20, and May 27, 1973.

The first field-setting of the transplants was completed on May 23, and the second on May 30, 1973, in a sarpy, fine sandy loam soil at Ashland Horticultural Farm. The field was prepared well in advance for transplanting with thorough incorporation of 50 lbs. of nitrogen and 38 lbs. of P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>/acre. The plants were set in the field at two different spacings of 36" x 18" and 36" x 24". A factorial design was used with four main factors at two different levels with four replications for this experiment. Each plant received a cup of starter solution at the time of transplanting prepared by mixing 3 lbs. of 18-46-0 per 50 gallons of water. Diphenamid, at 5 lbs. per acre was applied after transplanting to the field, but before emergence of weeds, on May 31,

1973 as a herbicide. The crop was surface irrigated when needed by means of gated-pipe system. The planting was sprayed at 10-14 day intervals with Thiodan (50% WP.) as a prevention against aphids and other insects and Maneb or fixed copper was used as a fungicide. The plants were side-dressed on August 9, 1973, with nitrogen at 50 lb. per acre. Plant height was measured in the field on July 5, 1973.

The planting was harvested four times during the season. The first harvest, on August 29, 1973, constituted the early yield of the season. The last harvest was completed on October 3, 1973.

The yield was graded into marketable or culls. Marketable yield consisted of fruits which were green, firm, free from insect, disease or sun scald damage and well shaped or fairly well shaped, at least 2½" in length and 2½" in diameter. Culls were those that were smaller than described, rotted, sun scalded, worm damaged, blossom-end rotted, or badly mis-shapened.

The treatment effects were observed for early marketable yield, total marketable yield, total yield, and season's average marketable fruit weight.

The yield data was further analysed for early marketable yield per plant, total marketable yield per plant, total yield per plant for the entire season, and season's average marketable fruit weight per plant.

The data was analysed statistically and tested for significance at 5% level.

#### EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

## Greenhouse Results

The data recorded on May 20, 1973, showed no significant effect on number of leaves or plant height with any factor or their interaction.

Significant results were observed one week later (Table I and II).

The plants growing at 55 F night temperature were significantly taller with a larger number of leaves. The small pots had significantly taller plants with a larger number of leaves.

The interaction was insignificant between pot size and night temperature.

Pepper seedlings grown at 55 F night temperature using  $2^{L_2}$ " pots resulted in taller plants with more nodes and leaves than other regimes tested.

#### Field Results

Night temperature had a significant effect on plant height and diameter of fruit (Table III). Seedlings exposed to 55 F night temperature were taller; however, fruits with larger diameter were produced on plants exposed to 50 F night temperatures. Pot size did not significantly effect yield. Significant age times pot size interaction occurred for total yield and total marketable yield per plant.

Spacing had a significant effect on early marketable and total yield (Table IV). A spacing of 36" x 18" gave higher early marketable and total yields. Significant spacing times age interaction occurred for early marketable yield.

Spacing resulted in significant differences in total marketable yield per plant, total yield per plant, and season's average marketable fruit weight

TABLE I

Effect of night temperature and pot size on pepper plant height after three and one-half weeks growth in the greenhouse

Night temp.(F)	P	ot size
·	2½"	3"
		cms
50	14.82	9.73
55	17.57	15.05

LSD 0.05

Night temp. 1.71 Pot size 1.71

Interaction was insignificant.

TABLE II

Effect of night temperature and pot size on number of leaves of peppers after three and one-half weeks growth in the greenhouse.

Nigh <b>t</b> temp. (F)	Pot	size
	2 <sup>1</sup> 2"	3"
	Number o	of leaves
50	7.73	7.13
55	8.66	7.83

LSD 0.05

Night temp. 0.47 Pot size 0.47

Interaction was insignificant.

TABLE III

Effect of night temperature on pepper plant height in field and fruit diameter at first harvest

the state of the s	
nt height Fru	it diameter
cms	
31.18	7.26
33.29	7.04
1.17	0.19
	cms 31.18 33.29

TABLE IV

Effect of field spacing of pepper transplants on early marketable yield, total yield, total marketable yield per plant, total yield per plant and season's average marketable fruit weight per plant.

Spacing	Early marketable yield/treatment	Total yield /treatment	Total marketable yield/plant	Total yield /plant	Season's average marketable fruit weight/plant
(inches)	(1b)	(1b)	(1b)	(11)	(1b)
36 x 18	4.07	26.47	1.49	3.31	0.030
36 x 24	2.97	24.26	1.78	4.01	0.039
LSD 0.05	0.65	1.65	0.21	0.26	0.001
				100 mm/s -	

per plant. The  $36" \times 24"$  spacing was found to be superior to the  $36" \times 18"$  for these yield-characteristics.

## Age of Transplants

Age of transplants significantly affected early marketable and total marketable yield. The oldest transplants produced taller plants. Significant age times spacing interaction occurred for early marketable yield (Table V).

Significant age times pot size interaction also occurred for total yield.

Age had a significant effect on plant height. Young transplants were found to be taller.

Significant effect of age was observed for early marketable yield per plant and total marketable yield per plant. The oldest transplants produced increased yields. Significant age times pot size interaction occurred for total marketable yield per plant.

Significant age times pot size times spacing times night temperature interaction occurred for early marketable yield, plant height and early marketable yield per plant.

Early marketable yield showed a significant positive correlation with length of fruit, season's average marketable fruit weight, total yield, and total marketable yield. It had a higher co-efficient of correlation value (r = 0.583) with total marketable yield.

Total marketable yield indicated a significant positive correlation with total yield and length of fruit. It showed a higher co-efficient of correlation value (r = 0.695) with total yield (Appendix III).

The culls were predominantly small in size. Rot and sun-scald damage was observed occasionally but worm and blossom end-rot rarely.

TABLE V

Effect of age of pepper transplants on early marketable yield, total marketable yield, plant height, early marketable yield

per plant and total marketable yield per plant

Age of trans- plants	Early marketable yield/treatment	Total marketable yield/treatment	Plant height /treatment	Early marketable Total marketable yield/plant yield/plant	Total marketable yield/plant
(days)	(1b)	(1b)	(cms)	(1b)	(1b)
48	3.06	10.38	33.07	0.44	1.51
55	3.98	12.22	31.40	0.56	1.77
LSD 0.05	99.0	1.43	1.17	0.09	0.21

#### DISCUSSION

The pepper seedlings responded to cultural treatments during vegetative growth in the greenhouse. The low night temperature of 50 F caused a significant reduction in the number of leaves per plant within 33-days after the cotyledon unfolding stage. Irena Rylski (42) noticed a slight, though non-significant, tendency toward reduction in number of leaves prior to the first flower when the cold treatment of 39 F night temperature was given for 21 days.

Results from the present work were contrary to Irena Rylski's (42) observations of insignificant differences in number of leaves at 50 and 59 F night temperature. This might be a result of longer duration of treatment in his experiment.

High night temperature of 55 F showed a significant increase in the number of leaves. Similar results were obtained by Dorland and Went (16) but at a high night temperature of 85 F.

The effect of low night temperature in reducing plant height is in agreement with the results obtained by Deli and Tiessen (14) at low night temperature of 54 F.

Temperature, as it affects growth, is defined over a desirable range of cardinal points from minimum through optimum to maximum. Cardinal temperatures differ between crops as well as different organs of a crop plant and for the various stages of development. The optimum values suggest the desirable temperatures for maximum productivity (31).

The plants growing in  $2\frac{1}{2}$ " pots were significantly taller with a larger number of leaves. This difference may be attributed to shading due to overcrowding.

The way light retards stem elongation is not yet understood but evidence shows that it reduces the effective gibberellin supply in growing region (31, 44).

Schoch (46) observed shading during seedling growth encouraged not only cellular expansion in sweet pepper but also intensity of cell division and reduced considerably the density of the stomata. The photosynthesis process (31) is more active in shade due to better hydrous conditions of the leaves. In brief, dry matter in leaves under shade is greater than that in full sun.

A large number of leaves at transplanting time was in fact beneficial for production of large total yields in peppers (32).

Plants exposed to 55 F night temperature in greenhouse prior to field-setting resulted in taller plants before flowering and fruit setting. This phenomenon no longer existed after the plants began to set fruits. All the plants appeared to have attained nearly the same height as fruit-set and development progressed.

The reduction in plant height was also observed by Deli and Tiessen (14) at low night temperatures.

The plants exposed to high night temperature of 55 F in the greenhouse had light green leaves. Dorland and Went (16) reported deleterious effects of high night temperature in peppers; complete bleaching of leaves occured in a regime of 65 day - 86 F night temperature. The plants after field setting never experienced such high night temperature in the present experiment.

The unfavorable daily temperatures prevailing in the field during flowering and fruit setting--from the day of field setting till the first harvest-- might have overcome the effects produced by night temperatures during early growing stage of the plants.

The plants set earlier in the field experienced a daily average maximum-minimum temperatures of 87.8 - 65.6 F, whereas the plants set later experienced temperature regime of 89.9 - 66.6 F.

Cochram (8) reported that plants grown in the warm greenhouse (70 - 80 F) produced a larger total number of flowers, likewise, larger total number of flowers dropped. The same cause may be possible in the present experiment because the average minimum-maximum temperature prevailing on the field was 65.6 - 87.7 F from field-setting until the day of first harvest.

Poor stigma receptivity because of dried out condition resulting from mean air temperature of 72 and 73 F was found to be a causal factor, by Cochran and Dempsey, in pimento peppers (9). This might be another possibility in the present experiment since the average daily temperature was 77 F during flowering and fruit setting.

Fruits with larger diameter were obtained from plants grown at 50 F night temperature. This result is contrary to Well's observations (55), where elongated and pointed fruits at the stylar end were noticed at 50 F night temperature. This difference may be attributed to different experimental conditions since the plants were in controlled environmental chambers maintained at 78 F day temperature throughout the experiment. Differential night temperature was suggested as indirectly affecting fruiting by influencing the quantities of carbohydrates and growth substances.

Pot size had no significant effect on yield of peppers. But significant age times pot size interaction occurred for total yield and total marketable yield per plant.

Angeli (1) reported higher yields from pepper seedlings grown in 4"  $\times$  4" peat-pots than 2.8"  $\times$  2.8" pots. Casseres (6) obtained similar significant higher early and total yield of tomatoes using wider spacing in flats.

Spacing in the field had a significant effect on early marketable yield and total yield. Significant spacing times age interaction occurred for early marketable yields. The 36" x 18" spacing resulted in higher early marketable and total yield.

Spacing also had a significant effect on total marketable yield per plant. The 36" x 24" spacing increased total marketable yield per plant.

Increase in early marketable and total yield with  $36" \times 18"$  spacing may be attributed to more plants because per plant total marketable yield was significantly larger with  $36" \times 24"$  spacing for the Tasty Hybrid cultivar.

Results with 12" x 12", 24" x 24", and 36" x 36" spacing demonstrated that high density planting offers a promising method of increasing both total and marketable yield of the standard early cultivar, Vinedale (25).

Experimental results indicate that spacing for maximum yield depends on the variety, type of use, and other cultural operations (21, 36, 49, 50).

Reducing plant population was found to increase total seed weight in peppers but lowered seed production per plant and per fruit (12).

Age of the transplants had a significant effect on early marketable yield, total marketable yield, plant height, early marketable yield per plant, and total marketable yield per plant. The oldest transplants (55 days) were superior for all the above yields but increased plant height occurred with young transplants (48 days).

Significant age times spacing interaction occurred for early marketable yield. Age times pot size interaction was significant for total marketable yield per plant. Similar transplants (55 days) were recommended for good yield of peppers (3, 51).

Nicklow (32) observed similar significant effect with pepper transplants on early yields but discouraged the use of transplants with open flowers. Better yields were also obtained with 60 day old transplants (1, 50). Age was found to affect early and total yields in tomatoes (6, 33).

Significant age times pot size times spacing times night temperature interaction was observed for early marketable yield, plant height, and early marketable yield per plant.

Early marketable yield showed a positive correlation with total marketable yield, total yield, season's average marketable fruit weight, and length of fruit. It showed a higher value of coefficient of correlation (r = 0.583) with total marketable yield (Appendix III).

Total marketable yield exhibited a positive correlation with total yield, and length of fruit. High value of coefficient of correlation (r = 0.695) shows that as the total marketable yield increases the total yield increases.

#### SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

This study was initiated to determine the effect of night temperature, pot size, spacing and age of transplant on sweet pepper (Capsicum annum. L.) yield in a factorial design at two different levels of each factor.

During early stages of growth in the greenhouse, the low night temperature of 50 F caused a significant reduction in the number of leaves and plant height, when compared with plants from the 55 F night temperature.

The plants grown in pot of  $2\frac{1}{2}$ " diameter were significantly taller with more leaves than plants grown in 3" pots. This might be attributed to shading due to overcrowding.

After transplanting to the field, the plants exposed to 55 F night temperature in the greenhouse were taller. This phenomenon no longer existed once the plants began to set fruits. All the plants appeared to have attained nearly the same height at the end of last harvest.

Night temperature, to which seedlings were exposed during the early growth period, did not affect the yield of peppers in this study. The transplants after field-setting experienced a daily average minimum-maximum temperature regime of 66 F -88 F from the first day of field-setting till the first harvest. These unfavorable daily temperatures prevailing during flowering and fruit-setting might have overcome the effects of night temperatures to which the seedlings were exposed in the greenhouse. Seedlings exposed to 50 F night temperature produced fruits with larger diameter.

Pot size had no significant effect on yield of peppers. But significant age times pot size interaction occurred for total yield and total marketable yield per plant.

Spacing had a significant effect on early marketable yield and total yield. A spacing of 36" x 18" was found to produce larger yields than the 36" x 24" spacing.

Significant spacing times age interaction occurred for early marketable yields. A spacing of 36" x 24" increased the total marketable yield per plant.

Age of transplants had a significant effect on early marketable yield, total marketable yield, early marketable yield per plant and total marketable yield per plant. The 55-day old transplants produced higher yields, but plant height was greater with 48-day old transplants.

Significant age times spacing interaction occurred for early marketable yields. Significant age times spacing and age times pot size interaction occured for total marketable yield per plant.

Significant age times pot size times spacing times night temperature interaction was observed for early marketable yield, plant height, and early marketable yield per plant.

Early marketable yield was positively correlated with total marketable yield, total yield, season's average marketable fruit weight, and length of fruit.

Total marketable yield exhibited a significant positive correlation with total yield and length of fruit.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I acknowledge with sincere pleasure, the assistance and encouragement of Dr. J. K. Greig, my major professor, under whose careful and thoughtful guidance and supervision, this thesis was prepared.

I also acknowledge with special thanks, the members of my advisory committee: Dr. R. W. Campbell, Dr. N. W. Miles and Dr. Roscoe Ellis, Jr.

I sincerely appreciate the financial assistance given by the Graduate School, during the course of this study.

A special acknowledgement is due my friend, Dr. Kishan L. Dudkikar, whose moral and financial support have made the completion of my study possible.

Last but not least, my special thanks to all those friends and relatives who made it possible for me to study at Kansas State University, Manhattan, Kansas.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Angeli, L. 1971. The effect of the time of planting and method of seedling production on forcing peppers in hot-beds. Hort. Abstr. 41(1):1400.
- 2. Artyugina, Z. D. 1967. The effect of the day length on the growth and the yield capacity of sweet pepper. Biol. Abstr. 48(2):9566.
- Boswell, V. R., Doolittle, S. P., Pultz, L. M., Taylor, A. L., Danielson, L. L., and Campbell, R. E. 1964. Pepper production. USDA Information Bulletin 276.
- 4. Brasher, E. P. and Westover, K. C. 1937. The effect on yield of hardening the tomato plant. Proc. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 35:686-689.
- 5. Calvert, A. 1964. The effects of air temperature on growth of young tomato plants in natural light conditions. J. Hort. Sci. 39:194-211.
- 6. Casseres, E. H. 1947. Effect of date of sowing, spacing and foliage trimming of plants in flats on yield of tomatoes. Proc. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 50:285-289.
- Cochran, H. L. 1935. Some factors which influence the germination of pepper seeds. Proc. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 33:477-480.
- 8. Cochran, H. L. 1932. Factors affecting flowering and fruit-setting in the pepper. Proc. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 29:434-437.
- 9. Cochran, H. L. and Dempsey, A. H. 1966. Stimga structure and period of receptivity in pimentoes (Capsicum frutescens L.) Proc. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 88:454-457.
- 10. Cochran, H. L. 1936. Some factors influencing growth and fruit-setting in the pepper (Capsicum frutescens L.). Cornell University Ag. Exp. Sta. Memoir 190.
- 11. Curme, J. H. 1962. Effect of low night temperatures on tomato fruit set. Proceedings Plant Science Symposium. 1962. Campbell Soup Company 99-108.
- 12. Da Silva, R. F., and others. 1971. The effects of spacing and fertilizer levels on seed production in pepper (<u>Capsicum annum</u>). Hort. Abstr. 41(4):9133.
- Deanon, J. R. Jr. 1967. Vegetable Production in South East Asia. 97-137. University of the Phillipines, College of Agriculture, LosBanos, Laguana, Philippines.

- 14. Deli, J. and Tiessen, H. 1969. Interaction of temperature and light intensity on flowering of <u>Capsicum frutescens</u> var grossum cv. 'California Wonder.' J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 94(4):349-351.
- 15. De Lis, B. R., J. B. Cavagnoro, R. Tizio, A. Urbieta, and H. Morales. 1970. Studies on water requirements of horticultural crops. V. Influence of drought at different growth stages of pepper (Capsicum annum L.). Biol. Abstr. 51(20:115926.
- 16. Dorland, R. E. and Went, F. W. 1947. Plant growth under controlled conditions. VIII. Growth and fruiting of the chili pepper (Capsicum annum). Amer. J. Botany. 34:393-401.
- 17. Filius, I. 1970. The effect of night air temperature and soil heating on pepper forcing. Nort. Abstr. 40(2):3990.
- 18. Florian, A. 1972. The influence of density and certain mineral fertilizers on the yield of green pepper. Biol. Abstr. 53(12):66691.
- 19. Harrington, J. F. 1952. Effect of spacing and size of root on carrot seed yield and germination. Proc. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 58:165-167.
- 20. Hough, M. N. 1972. Weather factors affecting the development of maize from sowing to flowering. J. Agric. Sci. 78(2):325-331.
- 21. Hristov, S., and Gjurov, S. 1966. The planting density of small podded capsicums grown in hot beds. Hort. Abstr. 36(1):1146.
- 22. Hurd, R. G. and Cooper, A. J. 1970. The effect of early low temperature treatment on the yield of single-inflorescence tomatoes. J. Hort. Sci. 45:19-47.
- 23. Hurd, R. G. and Cooper, A. J. 1967. Increasing flower number in single-truss tomatoes. J. Hort. Sci. 42:181-188.
- 24. Kato, T. and Tanaka, M. 1973. Studies on fruitset and development in capsicums. I. Fruiting behavior. Hort. Abstr. 43(4):2098.
- 25. Kemp, W. G. and Wesolowski, L. J. 1972. High density planting boosts pepper profits. Canada Agriculture. 17(3):6-8.
- 26. Kruzilin, A. S. and Ervaljd, M. A. 1955. The character of phasic development in plants of sweet pepper and egg plant. Hort. Abstr. 25(1):694.
- 27. Lenka, D. and Gautam, O. P. 1971. Method of planting for increased grain production of pea (Pisum sativum L. var. arvense Poir.). Indian J. Agric. Sci. 41(3):280-283.
- 28. Litynski, M. and Maria, P. 1973. Influence of plant spacing and date of harvest on fruit setting in spinach. Biol. Abstr. 56(3):14429.

- 29. Loomis, W. E. 1925. Studies in the transplanting of vegetable plants. Cornell Univ. Agri. Exp. Sta. Memoir 87.
- 30. Miller, R. O. Jr. 1958. A study of the vegetative growth and flowering of snapdragons (Antirrhinum majus) as affected by the interrelationship of light intensity and night temperature. Ph.D. Dissert. Abstr.
- 31. Mitchell R. L. 1970. Crop growth and culture. The Iowa State University Press, Ames, Iowa 50010.
- 32. Nicklow, C. W. 1963. A study of the influence of the stage of development of tomato and pepper plants at transplanting time on yield potential and other characteristics. Ph. D. Dissert. Abstr.
- 33. Nicklow, C. W. and Minges, P. A. 1962. Plant growing factors influencing the field performance of the Fireball tomato variety. Proc. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 81:443-450.
- 34. Odland, M. L. 1949. Interrelation of spacing, variety and interplanting on yield and fruit size of tomatoes. Proc. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 53:393-401.
- 35. Ozaki, H. Y. 1962. Effects of spacing, fertilizer, and variety upon pepper yields. Hort. Abstr. 32(4):6721.
- 36. Palevitch, D. 1969. Varietal and spacing effects on the yield of red pepper (Capsicum annum L.) in single harvest. Hort. Abstr. 39(4): 6903.
- 37. Phatak, S. C., Wittwer, S. H., and Teubner, F. G. 1966. Top and root temperature effects on tomato flowering. Proc. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 88:527-531.
- 38. Randhawa, K. S., K. S. Nandpuri and M. S. Bajwa 1973. Studies on the comparative efficiency of different sizes of seed and spacings on the yield of ginger. Biol. Abstr. 56(5):25979.
- 39. Reeve, E., Robbins, W. A., Taylor, W. S., and Kelly, J. F. 1962.
  Cultural and nitrogen fertilization practices in relation to tomato
  fruit set and yield. Proceedings Plant Science Symposium. 1962.
  Campbell Soup Company. 129-147.
- 40. Roy, R. S. Singh, R. K., and Bari, M. F. 1954. Effect of spacing on the growth and fruiting of tomato variety 'Marglobe Sabour'. Indian J. Horticulture. 11:131-137.
- 41. Rylski, I. 1973. Effect of night temperature on shape and size of sweet pepper (Capsicum annum L.). J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 98(2): 149-152.

- 42. Rylski, I. 1972. Effect of the early environment on flowering in pepper (Capsicum annum L.). J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 97(5):648-651.
- 43. Roy, M. S. 1956. Floral initiation in <u>Cestrum nocturnum</u>, a long-short day plant. III The effect of temperature upon long day and short day induction. Plant Physiology. 31:430-433.
- 44. Salisbury, F. B. and Ross, C. 1969. Plant Physiology. Wadsworth Publishing Company, Inc., Belmont, California.
- 45. Schaible, L. W. 1962. Fruit setting responses of tomatoes to high night temperatures. Proceedings Plant Science Symposium. Campbell Soup Company. 89-98.
- 46. Schoch, P. G. 1972. Effects of shading on structural characteristics of the leaf and yield of fruit in <u>Capsicum annum L. J. Amer. Soc.</u> Hort. Sci. 97(4):461-464.
- 47. Smith, P. G. and Heiser, C. B. Jr. 1953. The cultivated capsicum peppers. Economic Botany. 7:214-227.
- 48. Smith, P. G. and Heiser, C. B. Jr. 1951. Taxonomic and genetic studies on the cultivated peppers, <u>Capsicum annum L. and C. frutescens</u>. L. Amer. J. Botany. 38:362-368.
- 49. Spaldon, E., and Pevna, V. 1960. Results of a spacing experiment on sweet pepper (C. annum var. grossum) under sprinkler and furrow irrigation. Hort. Abstr. 30(2):2304.
- 50. Stoicescu, M. 1964. Planting times and spacing for sweet peppers. Hort'l. Abstr. 34(4):6911.
- 51. Thompson, H. C. and Kelly, W. C. 1957. Vegetable Crops. 504-511. McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York.
- 52. United States Department of Agriculture. 1970. Nutritive value of foods. Home and garden bulletin No. 72. 1-41.
- 53. Vittum, M. T. and Tapley, W. T. 1953. Spacing and fertility level studies with a determinate-type tomato. Proc. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 61:339-342.
- 54. Warne, L. G. G. 1951. Spacing experiments on vegetables. I. The effect of the thinning distance on earliness in Globle beet and carrots in Cheshire, 1948. J. Hort. Sci. 26:79-83.
- 55. Wells, O. S. 1966. The effect of night temperature on fruit-set of the pepper (Capsicum annum). Ph.D. Dissert. Abstr.
- 56. Went, F. W. 1957. The Experimental Control of Plant Growth. Chronica Botanica Company, Waltham, Mass., U. S. A.

- 57. Went, F. W. 1957. Climate and Agriculture. Scientific American. 196(6):83-94.
- 58. Went, F. W. 1945. Plant growth under controlled conditions. V. The relation between age, light, variety and thermoperiodicity of tomatoes. Amer. J. Botany. 32:469-479.
- 59. Went, F. W. 1944. Plant growth under controlled conditions. II. Thermoperiodicity in growth and fruiting of the tomato. Amer. J. Botany. 31:135-150.
- 60. Went, F. W. 1953. The effect of temperature on plant growth. Annual Review of Plant Physiology. 4:347-362.
- 61. Went, F. W. and Cosper, L. 1945. Plant growth under controlled conditions. VI. Comparison between field and air conditioned greenhouse culture of tomatoes. Amer. J. Botany. 32:643-654.
- 62. Wittwer, S. H. and Teubner, F. G. 1957. The effects of temperature and nitrogen nutrition on flower formation in the tomato. Amer. J. Botany. 44:125-129.
- 63. Zink, A. W. and Akana, D. A. 1951. The effect of spacing on the growth of sprouting broccoli. Proc. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 58:160-165.

## VITA

Ramchandra Narsimalu Nadmichettu was born on August 3, 1946, at Bhainsa, Adilabad, A. P., India. He attended Z. P. High School, at Bhainsa and graduated in 1963.

He obtained his B. S. degree in Agriculture from College of Agriculture, Hyderabad, A. P. Agricultural University, A. P., India in 1971.

He is a member of the National Council for Therapy and Rehabilitation through Horticulture.

APPENDIX

APPENDIX I

total marketable yield, total yield, season's average marketable fruit weight, plant Effect of age, pot-size, spacing, and night temperature on marketable early yield, height in field, fruit length, and fruit diameter of pepper transplants.

Age	Pot size	Pot size Spacing Night temp.	Night temp.	Early marketable yield per treatment	Total marketable yield per treatment	Total yield per treatment	Season's average marketable fruit weight per treatment	Plant height in field per treatment
(days)	(days) (inches) (inches)	(inches)	(F)	(19)	(1b)	(1b)	(1b)	(cms)
48	21.2	36x18	90	2.93	10.40	22.75	0.23	32.01
87	232	36x24	20	2.10	9.10	22.75	0.22	31.42
87	2½	36x18	55	3.30	10,25	25.00	0.24	33.10
48	232	36x24	55	3.43	9.80	23.95	0.23	34.50
87	ო	36x18	20	2.83	11.28	27.78	0.23	31.69
87	ы	36x24	90	3.48	11.10	25.05	0.22	32.96
87	က	36x18	55	3.98	11.23	26.85	0.21	36.79
87	ო	36x24	55	2.45	9.93	23.65	0.22	32.10
55	$2\frac{1}{2}$	36x18	20	4.70	13.74	27.39	0.23	31.25

APPENDIX I (cont.)

Age	Pot size Spacing	Spacing	Night temp.	Early marketable yield per treatment	Total marketable yield per treatment	Total yield per treatment	Season's average marketable fruit weight per treatment	Plant height in field per treatment
(days) 55	(inches)	(inches) 36x24	(F) 50	(1b) 3,40	(1b) 11.50	(1b) 25.93	(1b) 0.23	(cms) 31.50
55	2½	36×18	55	5,38	14.05	28.25	0.23	34.23
55	21/2	36×24	55	2.80	13.25	25.85	0.23	30.50
55	М	36x18	20	5.05	12.48	27.55	0.23	30.03
55	٣	36x24	50	2.65	10.58	23.58	0.23	28.58
55	3	36x18	55	7.40	11.75	26.20	0.23	33,40
55	e	36x24	55	3.43	10.38	23.30	0.23	31.84
LSD 0.05	. 5							
Age				0.65	1.43	NS	NS	1.17
Pot-size	ize			SN	NS	NS	NS	NS
Spacing	lng			0.65	NS	1.652	NS	NS
Night	Night temperature	ıre		NS	NS	NS	NS	1.166
Age 3	Age x Pot size	ta T		SN	SN	2.34	NS	SN

APPENDIX I (cont.)

Age (days)	Pot size (inches)	Spacing (inches)	Night temp. (F)	Early marketable yield per treatment (1b)	Total marketable yield per treatment (1b)	Total yield per treatment (1b)	Season's average marketable fruit weight per treatment (1b)	Plant height in field per treatment (cms)
LSD 0.05	)5							
Age x	Age x Spacing			0.91	NS	NS	NS	NS
Age x	Age x Night temperature	perature		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Pot s	Pot size x Spacing	ing		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Pot s	size x Night temperature	t temperat	ure	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Spaci	Spacing x Night temperature	temperatu	re	NS	SN	SN	NS	NS
Age x	Rot size	Pot size x Spacing		SN	SN	NS	NS	NS
Age x	Age x Pot size x Night temperature	x Night te	mperatu	re NS	SN	NS	NS	SN
Age x	Age x Spacing x Night temperature	Night tem	peratur	e NS	SN	NS	NS	SN
Pot s	Pot size x Spacing x Night tempe	dng x Nigh tem	ight temperature	e NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Age x	Age x Pot size x Spacing x Night temperatur	x Spacing tem	ng x Night temperature	e 1.83	NS	NS	NS	3.30
		5						

APPENDIX II

Effect of age, pot size, spacing, and night temperature on early marketable yield per plant, total marketable yield per plant, total yield per plant, season's average marketable fruit weight per plant, fruit length per treatment, and fruit diameter per treatment of papper transplants.

	The state of the s	The state of the s	The second named in column 2 is not a se	The state of the s				The same of the sa	
Age	Pot-size	Pot-size Spacing Night temp.	Night temp.	Early marketable yield/ plant	Total marketable yield/ plant	Total yield /plant	Season's average marketable fruit weight /plant	Fruit length/ treatment	Fruit diameter/ treatment
(days)	(days) (inches) (inches)	(inches)	(F)	(1b)	(1P)	(1b)	(1b)	(cms)	(cms)
87	$2\frac{1}{2}$	36x18	20	0.37	1,30	2.86	0.03	6.77	7.09
87	2½	36x24	20	0.35	1.52	3.79	0.04	6.73	7.44
87	2½	36x18	55	0.42	1.28	3.13	0.03	96.9	7.03
87	2½	36x24	55	0.57	1.63	3.99	0.04	7.04	6.92
84	6	36×18	20	0.35	1,41	3.47	0.03	88.9	7.49
84	m	36x24	20	0.58	1.85	4.17	0.04	6.67	7.14
85	٣	36x18	55	0.50	1,41	3.36	0.03	7.16	7.18
48	٣	36x24	55	0.41	1,66	3.94	0.04	7.16	7.13

APPENDIX II (cont.)

Age.	Pot-size	Spacing	Night temp.	Early marketable yield/ plant	Total marketable yield/ plant	Total yield /plant	Season's average marketable fruit weight /plant	Fruit length/ treatment	Fruit diameter/ treatment
(days)	(days) (inches)	(inches)	(F)	(1b)	(Ib)	(1b)	(1b)	(cms)	(cms)
55	232	36x18	20	0.59	1.72	3.43	0.03	7.47	7.32
55	$2\frac{1}{2}$	36x24	20	0.57	1.92	4.09	0.04	96.9	7.09
55	$2\frac{1}{2}$	36×18	55	0.67	1.76	3,53	0.03	7.14	08.9
55	2½	36x24	55	0.47	2.21	4.31	0.04	7.05	7.05
55	က	36x18	20	0.62	1.56	3.45	0.03	6.97	7.48
55	3	36x24	20	0.44	1.76	3.93	0.04	6.91	7.03
55	en ,	36x18	55	0.55	1.47	3.28	0.03	7.17	7.09
55	٣	36x24	55	0.57	1.73	3.88	0.04	99.9	7.17
LSD 0.05	5								
Age				60.0	0.21	NS	NS	NS	NS
Pot size	ize			NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Spacing	gu:	ŧ		NS	0.21	0.26	0.001	NS	NS
Night	Night temperature	ıre		NS	N	NS	NS	NS	0.19

APPENDIX II (cont.)

er/ ent			×									
Fruit diameter/ treatment (cms)		NS	NS	NS	SN	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Fruit length/ treatment (cms)		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	SN	NS	NS	NS	SN	NS
Season's average marketable fruit weight /plant (1b)		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Total yield /plant (1b)		NS	SN	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Total marketable yield/ plant (lb)		0.29	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Early marketable yield/ plant (1b)		NS	SN	SN	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	SN	0.25
Night temp. (F)						ure	ıre		· dus	ф.	it temp.	ing x Night temperature
Spacing (inches)				perature	ing	t temperat	temperatu	x Spacing	x Night te	Night ten	ing x Nigh	x Spacing temp
Pot-size (inches)	2	Age x Pot size	Age x Spacing	Age x Night temperature	size x Spacing	Pot size x Night temperature	Spacing x Night temperature	Age x Pot size x Spacing	Age x Pot size x Night temp.	Age x Spacing x Night temp.	Pot size x Spacing x Night temp.	Age x Pot size x Spacing x Night temperature
Age (days)	LSD 0.05	Age x	Age x	Age x	Pot s	Pot s.	Spaci	Age x	Age x	Age x	Pot s.	Age x

APPENDIX III

Linear correlation co-efficients for the parameters under study

Early marketable yield	1.00000						
Total marketable yield	0.58307*	1.00000					
Total yield	0.39495*	*89569*0	1.00000				
Season's average marketable fruit weight	0.25249*	0.14355	0.10412	1.00000			
Plant height	-0.03341	-0.04445	0.12941	-0.10008	1,00000		
Fruit length	0.33212*	0.31699*	0.12127	0.15570	-0.00058	1.00000	
Fruit diameter	-0.04049	0.04011	0.07642	0.19586	-0.24228	0.05163	1.00000
	Early marketable yield	Total marketable yield	Total yield	Season's average marketable fruit weight	Plant height	Fruit length	Fruit

\*A value of plus or minus 0.2464 required for significance at the 0.05 test level.

APPENDIX IV

## SOME EFFECTS OF CULTURAL PRACTICES ON GROWTH AND YIELD OF PEPPERS (CAPSICUM ANNUM L.)

by

RAMCHANDRA N. NADMICHETTU

B. S., Andhra Pradesch Agricultural University, 1971

AN ABSTRACT OF A MASTER'S THESIS

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Horticulture and Forestry

KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY

Manhattan, Kansas

1974

The pepper is a frost sensitive plant and it requires a long growing season to produce profitable yields. In order to lengthen the growing season, the seed is usually sown in greenhouses or other forcing structures during late winter or very early spring. It is also desirable to grow large, thrifty plants to transplant in the field because early peppers command the highest prices. One of the common phenomena observed in garden or field grown pepper transplants in Kansas is lack of early fruit-set resulting in lower yields and reduced prices.

A study was initiated to determine the effect of greenhouse night temperature, pot-size, spacing and age of transplant on sweet pepper (Capsicum annum L.) yield in a factorial design at two different levels of each factor.

During early stages of growth in the greenhouse the pepper seedlings cv. Tasty Hybrid exposed to low night temperature of 50 F showed a significant reduction in the number of leaves and plant height, when compared with plants exposed to 55 F night temperature. The plants grown in pots of  $2\frac{1}{2}$ " diameter were significantly taller with more leaves than plants grown in 3" pots. This might be attributed to shading due to overcrowding.

Greenhouse night temperature, to which seedlings were exposed during the early growth period, did not affect the yield of peppers in this study after transplanting to the field. The transplants after field-setting experienced a daily average minimum-maximum temperature regime of 66 F -88 F from the first day of field setting until the first harvest. These unfavorable daily temperatures prevailing during flowering and fruit-setting might have overcome the effects of night temperatures to which seedlings were exposed in the greenhouse. Seedlings exposed to 50 F night temperature produced fruits with larger diameter.

Pot-size had no significant effect on yield of peppers. A significant age times pot-size interaction occurred for total yield and total marketable yield per plant.

Field spacing had a significant effect on early marketable yield and total yield. A spacing of 36" x 18" was found to produce larger yields than the 36" x 24" spacing. Significant spacing times age interaction occurred for early marketable yields. A spacing of 36" x 24" increased the total marketable yield per plant.

Age of transplants had a significant effect on early marketable yield, total marketable yield, early marketable yield per plant and total marketable yield per plant. The 55-day old transplants produced higher yields, but plant height was greater with 48-day old transplants. Significant age times spacing interaction occurred for early marketable yields. Significant age times spacing and age times pot-size interaction occurred for total marketable yield per plant.

Significant age times pot size times spacing times night temperature interaction was observed for early marketable yield, plant height, and early marketable yield per plant.

Early marketable yield was positively correlated with total marketable yield, total yield, season's average marketable fruit-weight, and length of fruit.

Total marketable yield exhibited a significant positive correlation with total yield and length of fruit.